2014

## State of Utah, Appellee, v. Lane D. Bird, Appellant.

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. §78A-4-103(2)(e), as this appeal is taken from the final *Ruling and Order on State's Request for Restitution*, entered on December 2, 2013 (the "**Restitution Order**") and the *Order on Defendant's Motion to Amend Ruling and Order on State's Request for Restitution*, entered on March 18, 2014 (the "**Post-Judgment Order**"), by the Honorable Judge Michael G. Allphin in the above-captioned matter. Further, this appeal follows a timely filed notice of appeal in accordance with UT. R. APP. P. 4.

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES, STANDARDS OF REVIEW AND  
PRESERVATION**

**ISSUE I:**     *Did the trial court err in failing to offset its court-ordered restitution amount of \$164,723.17 with the \$1M-\$1.5M of inventory given to the Markhams upon dissolution of the Company, having erroneously devalued such inventory based on the FDA ordering recall of final products produced by Markhams' new company more than two (2)*



*years later, which recall occurred due to Markham's own violations in the conducting of that business (i.e. failure to have written policies and procedures on many safety issues)?*

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** “Generally ‘[w]e will not disturb a trial court’s order of restitution unless the “trial court exceeds the authority prescribed by law or abuses its discretion.”’” *State v. McBride*, 940 P.2d 539, 541 (Utah App 1997), *citing State v. Robinson*, 860 P.2d 979, 980 (Utah App. 1993)(citation omitted). ““However, whether or not restitution is proper in this case depends solely upon the interpretation of the governing statute, and the “trial court’s interpretation of a statute presents a question of law.”’” *Id.* at 541, *citing State v. Garcia*, 866 P.2d 5, 6 (Utah App. 1993)(*quoting Ward v. Richfield City*, 798 P.2d 757, 759 (Utah 1990). “We accord a lower court’s statutory interpretations no particular deference but assess them for correctness, as we do any other conclusions of law.” *Id.* at 541, *citing Garcia* at 6 (*quoting Salt Lake City v. Emerson*, 861 P.2d 443, 445 (Utah App. 1993)(citation omitted)).

**PRESERVATION:** This matter was preserved based upon the hearing on February 26, 2014 regarding restitution. At such hearing the issue of off-setting the amount of restitution with the inventory was raised by Bird, but was denied by the trial court as is shown by the entry of the Order requiring restitution. The post-judgment proceedings additionally dealt with this issue.

**ISSUE II:** *Was the evidence insufficient to support the trial court’s determination of complete restitution and court-ordered restitution as contained in the Ruling?*

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** “When reviewing a bench trial for sufficiency of evidence, we must sustain the trial court’s judgment unless it is against the clear weight

of the evidence, or if the appellate court otherwise reaches a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made.” *State v. Larsen* 2000 UT App. 106, ¶10, 999 P.2d 1252.

**PRESERVATION:** Sufficiency of the evidence challenges do not require preservation. *See, State ex rel. K.F.*, 2009 UT 4, ¶61, 201 P.3d 985 (“It would be superfluous to demand that a party challenge the evidentiary support for a court’s findings shortly after the court articulates them.”). Additionally, UT. R. CIV. P. 54(b) states that, “[w]hen findings of fact are made in actions tried by the court without a jury, the question of the sufficiency of the evidence to support the findings may thereafter be raised whether or not the party raising the question has made in the district court an objection to such findings or has made either a motion to amend them, a motion for judgment, or a motion for a new trial.”

### **CONTROLLING CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

In accordance with UT. R. APP. P. 24(a)(11)(A), the following provisions are attached hereto verbatim as Addendum “C”:

- A. U.S. CONST. AMEND. VI.
- B. UTAH CODE ANN. §61-1-1
- C. UTAH CODE ANN. §61-1-16
- D. UTAH CODE ANN. §61-1-20
- E. UTAH CODE ANN. §61-1-21
- F. UTAH CODE ANN. §61-1-22
- G. UTAH CODE ANN. §76-3-201
- H. UTAH CODE ANN. §77-38a-102(2)
- I. UTAH CODE ANN. §77-38a-102(6)
- J. UTAH CODE ANN. § 77-38a-301
- K. UTAH CODE ANN. §77-38a-302(1)
- L. UTAH CODE ANN. §63M-7-503
- M. UTAH CODE ANN. §77-38a-401
- N. UTAH CODE ANN. §78B-5-818
- O. UTAH CODE ANN. §78B-5-820

## PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND STATEMENT OF CASE

On April 4, 2011, Bird was charged by *Criminal Information* with Securities Fraud, a second-degree felony in violation of UTAH CODE ANN. §61-1-1 and Theft, a second-degree felony in violation of UTAH CODE ANN. §76-6-404. R0001-R0002. On April 13, 2011 the *Initial Appearance* was held at which Bird waived a preliminary hearing. R0021. On April 18, 2011, the *Bind-Over Order* which bound Bird over for trial was issued. R0023. On April 25, 2011 the *Arraignment* was held at which time Bird entered a not guilty plea to both charges. R0036.

On August 28 and 29, 2012, the matter came for a bench trial. R0084. At the conclusion of the trial Bird was found guilty of Securities Fraud, a second-degree felony, while the remaining theft charge dismissed. R0087. Sentencing was held on November 26, 2012. R0114. Bird was sentenced to one (1) to fifteen (15) years in prison with such term suspended. *Id* Bird was sentenced to one hundred eighty (180) days in jail with work release. *Id*. Bird was fined \$1000 which was stayed and was also ordered to pay \$500 in attorney's fees. R0115.

On April 29, 2013, the *State's Request for Restitution* ("**Restitution Motion**") was filed. R0134. In the Restitution Motion, the State sought restitution for William and Susan Markham ("**Markhams**") in the amount of \$247,000, representing the amount that they had invested with Bird in Clarcon Labs, Inc. and Clarcon Distributing, Inc. (collectively, the "**Company**"). R0134-R0138. On June 28, 2013, Bird filed his *Defendant's Request to Deny Restitution*. R0148. Bird's request indicated that the Markhams should not be entitled to restitution because there is no actual loss that they

had suffered. *Id.* Bird indicated that the Markhams were not entitled to restitution because they had retained all assets and inventory of the Company and opened a new company, Clarcon Biological Chemistry Laboratories (“CBCL”), which they ran for over two (2) years using such assets. The assets and inventory was worth much more than the \$247,000 the Markhams invested and therefore, they did not suffer any economical loss. R0149. On October 1, 2013 a *Request to Submit for Decision* was filed by the State on its request for restitution. R0151.

On December 2, 2013 the Court entered its *Ruling and Order on State’s Request for Restitution* (the “**Ruling**”). R0153. In such Ruling the Court determined that the amount of \$82,276.83 would be off-set against the \$247,000 investment that was made by the Markhams. R0155. Such amount was the court’s calculation of the assets of the Company including, labelers, drill presses, greenhouses, processing machinery, raw ingredients, desks, computers, and office/lab equipment. *Id.* Based upon this off-set the court found that the Markhams were entitled to \$164,723.17 in pecuniary damages as a restitution order against Bird. R0156. Bird argued that the value of the product inventory within the company was worth into the millions of dollars. *Id.* The trial court ruled that, because the FDA had shut down Markhams new company two years later on violations by Markham and seized its inventory, such inventory was valueless and could not be used to off-set. *Id.* Thus, the court ordered restitution in the amount of \$164,723.17. *Id.*

On or about December 16, 2013 Bird filed his *Motion to Amend Ruling and Order on State’s Request for Restitution and Memorandum in Support* (“**Post-Judgment Motion**”). R0159. In such Motion Bird argues that there was insufficient evidence to

award pecuniary damages to Markham and that the Order doing so should be amended or at least a hearing held so that further evidence could be presented to determine appropriate restitution. R0176. On or about January 30, 2014 the State filed the *State's Response to Defendant's Motion to Amend Ruling and Order on State's Request for Restitution*. R0202. On January 30, 2014, Bird filed his *Reply on Bird's Motion to Amend Ruling and Order on State's Request for Restitution and Memorandum in Support*. R0192.

On February 26, 2014, the Post-Judgment Motion came for hearing, during which this Court indicated that the post-judgment procedure utilized was appropriate, but declined to address or apply the cost of the inventory or future profits gained from such inventory to offset the Markhams investment. R0220. After such hearing on March 4, 2014, the State mailed a copy of the proposed order to Bird's counsel. R0223. Such Order was not in conformance with the trial court's oral ruling, mistakenly indicating that the Post-Judgment Motion had been denied on the basis that (a) it lacked merit; (b) the order of restitution was not barred on statute of limitation grounds; and (c) the Post-Judgment motion was procedurally improper. R0223. The State also submitted this Order to the court for its signature at the same time.

On March 11, 2014, Bird filed his *Objection to Proposed Order on Defendant's Motion to Amend Ruling and Order on State's Request for Restitution; and Memorandum in Support* (the "**Objection**") on the basis that it did not conform with the Court's oral ruling in this matter. R0221. Unbeknownst to the parties the trial court then entered the State's proposed order on March 18, 2014. R0230. Therefore, on March 27, 2014, Bird

submitted to the State his own proposed *Order on Defendant's Motion to Amend Ruling and Order on State's Request for Restitution*. R233.

On April 15, 2014, counsel submitted Bird's Order to the Court, having waited a sufficient time for the State to submit its objection. R0247. On April 17, 2014, the Court also entered Bird's Order regarding the post-judgment proceedings. R0239-R0243. On April 23, 2014, the State filed its *Motion to Set Aside Order on Defendant's Motion to Amend Ruling and Order on State's Request for Restitution* on the basis that the State's Post-Judgment Order had been previously entered and that the State believed Bird's Order contained inaccuracies. R0246. On April 28, 2014 Bird filed his *Response in Opposition to the State's Motion to Set Aside Order, or Alternatively Bird's Motion for an Extension of Time to file his Notice of Appeal and Memorandum in Support*. R0256. Bird also filed his *Notice of Appeal* on April 28, 2014. R0267.

On May 6, 2014, the Second Judicial District Court entered its *Order Granting the State's Motion to Set Aside Order Entered on April 17, 2014*. R0279. In such Order the court also granted Bird an extension of time in which to file his *Notice of Appeal*. R0276. On May 13, 2014 the court entered the *Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Extension of Time to File Notice of Appeal*. R0291.

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

### **A. Bench Trial August 8<sup>th</sup>, 2012.**

#### **Testimony of Bill Markham.**

Bill Markham (“**Markham**”) testified that he and Bird became acquainted in 2001. R0343:3. He testified that at that time, he worked mortgage loans for Superior Lending, as did his wife as a processor-underwriter. R0343:3-4. He testified his wife did a mortgage for Bird’s house, but under Bird’s father’s name. *Id.*

Markham testified that before he went into business with Bird he had spoken to Bird about his businesses and what he did. R0343:6-7. He testified Bird approached him about getting involved with those businesses. *Id.* Markham testified he agreed to help Bird sell water filtration systems with no money necessary up front and bought one himself. R0343:8. He testified this was 2-3 years before Clarcon. *Id.* Markham testified he barely tried to sell the system; showing only his mother and sister, neither of whom purchased the system. R0343:8-10. He testified he was aware of Bird’s involvement with Couch Potato, Some Dude’s Playground and Powerslide. *Id.* Markham testified that Bird never tried to sell him a Powerslide device or spoke to him about investing or anything like that. *Id.*

He testified that Bird called him in approximately January of 2007 looking for investment money. R0343:11-13. Markham testified that Bird’s call was “out of the blue.” R0343:15. He testified that he gave Bird the first check on March 7<sup>th</sup>, 2007, and they discussed potential business opportunity in their daily conversations with one another. R0343:15-16. Markham testified that he and Omar Bonada (“**Bonada**”) first met casually while he was investing money and while Bird was showing him the facility in Roy. R0343:17. He testified that Bird introduced Markham to Bonada as someone who was investing money in the company, to which Bonada shook his hand and said it was



great to meet him. *Id.* Markham testified he met Bonada again after the investment, but did not have access to the company when he was signed as a signer (April of 2007). R0343:17-19.

He testified that Bird told him not to approach Bonada since his involvement was with sales and marketing through Bird. R0343:20. Markham testified that Bird prohibited him from speaking with Bonada . *Id.*

He testified that Bird told Markham that he bought out ClarconLab, LLC. R0343:21. Markham testified that he told the investigator, when he was being interviewed about everything, that Bird was part owner of ClarconLab and was trying to buy it out. *Id.* He testified that Bird was the owner of ClarconLabs, Inc. R0343: 22. Markham testified that, Clarcon Lab – Biological Chemistry Labs was created with Bonada in June of 2007. R0343:24. Markham testified that he never asked Bird any questions when he asked him for the \$250,000 investment because he trusted him. *Id.* He testified he has some experience in the business world. R343:27.

Markham testified that Bird never talked to him about any debt that Claron maintained. R0343:28. He testified there were no conversations about taking control of Claron from Bonada. *Id.* Markham testified that Bird told him he had invested \$500,000 into the Company, and that he had enough product on hand to cover both of their investments. R0343:28-29. Aside from the product Bird had in his office in Layton, there was no communication about how they intended to protect their interest so that Bonada did not have full control since Bonada was the only one making and distributing the product at that point. *Id.* Markham testified Bird showed him the product voluntarily.

*Id.* Markham testified he would put a retail value of \$1.5M on the product that Bird had showed him. R343:30.

He testified he was aware during his investment that there was a prior company that had been given a whole new name with Bird as part owner. R0343:31. Markham testified he did not check to see if Bird was being honest with him. R0343:32. He testified that it came as a surprise when he found out the companies were actually created in April of 2007. R0343:33. Markham testified he was not involved in the dissolving of ClarconLabs, LLC. R0343:33.

He testified that his investment was for automation to modernize all the equipment being used. R0343:34. Markham testified that he thought the money would be just for equipment. *Id.* He testified the purpose for the money was defined in their conversation. R0343:36. Markham testified that there was no written document about the money purposely being for modernizing and updating equipment. R0343:38. He testified that he used his retirement savings, 401(k), and his second mortgage along with a check from James and Patricia Macnamara, his aunt. R0343:45. Markham testified he told his aunt he would pay her back with interest and that the money was “for investment in equipment for Clarcon Labs.” *Id.* He testified he has created a company before. R0343:69. Markham testified that Clarcon Distributing, was created on April 3<sup>rd</sup>, 2007, with Judy Johnson as an incorporator and Markham as officer one and director one and that he had no knowledge of this when it occurred. *Id.*

He testified that the letter that kicked Bird out of the Company was done by an attorney that Bonada had hired and that he had not seen the letter. R343:71. Markham

testified that a sheriff had come and removed Bird but he did not know who called him. *Id.* He testified that he became partners with Bonada after Bird left and looked at what was left of all the books. R0343:72. Markham testified he did not know until a few weeks after Bird left that he had taken all his money. *Id.* He testified by the end of June of 2007, he knew what his losses were. R0343:75.

Markham testified he had no reason to work with or have Bird work for him again or solicit his help at all after Bird left the Company. R343:75-76. He testified that he sent an e-mail to Bird with an independent contractor agreement attached, with some price lists after Bird asked him if he could sell product for Markham. R0343:76. Markham testified in a verbal exchange between he and Bird, shortly after Bird left the Company, he had asked Markham if he could continue selling. R343:76-77. He testified Bird thought he had contacts he could sell the product to, make a profit on and make good on their investment. R0343:77. Markham testified that he and Bird only had a couple conversations about selling. R0343:79. He testified they sent e-mails back and forth about agreement as far as sales prices and as far as margins and commissions. *Id.* Markham testified that Bird was going to work for him as an independent contractor. *Id.* He testified that Bird went to Markham saying he “needed to make it right.” *Id.*

Markham testified that he did send an emotional e-mail to Bird airing out some of what had transpired with Clarcon, and Bird had talked about the \$60,000 transfer of money to Powerslide. R343:88. He testified that he authorized Bird to represent Clarcon in the one deal with Lowe’s and gave him parameters if he was going to work for him.

R0343:89. Markham testified that to his knowledge, Bird never sold to Lowe's for him.

*Id.*

Markham then testifies regarding an e-mail dated October 20<sup>th</sup> of 2008 in which he talks about being able to document \$89,648 of money that was moved from Clarcon to Powerslide when it had only been a \$60,000 transfer previously. R0343:93. He testified that there was something about the books that he noticed or documented to make that change. *Id.* Markham testified that most of the information was taken and removed from the Company, with many records were removed, but he was not sure by whom. R0343:94. He testified that when Bird moved out, he took that information and documentation, so Markham and the company did not have complete files. *Id.* Markham testified that it took months of sifting through paperwork, bank statements, etc., for that all to come to light. *Id.*

He testified that the attorney John Diaz and the sheriff came out and had Bird removed. *Id.* Markham testified he and Bonada were there when it happened. *Id.* He testified Bird had requested to take a desk, and things like personal belongings, and his computer. R0343:95. Markham testified Bird and Judy were the only ones with copies of the records. *Id.* He testified that he requested Bird return the computer back to the Company a month later, after looking at the books and making a determination. *Id.* Markham testified that Judy returned Bird's computer and stayed in the office a little while to gather her stuff. *Id.*

He testified that when he first looked at the computers, prior to October of 2007, he said 60,000 was the amount transferred. R0343:96. Markham testified that the number

changed to 89,000 because he started getting more documentation and bank statements. *Id.* He testified that he requested Judy Johnson's computer be returned once Bird left and took all the computers that the Company had. R0343:97. Markham testified an attempt was being made to go get bank records and see where all his money was and, after months, he only got partial records. R0343:98.

He testified that by October of 2008, he was still running the Company, but making no money. R0343:99. However, Markham testified that he formed a new company with Bonada shortly after Bird left and that company went on for a couple years before they shut it down and terminated it. R0343:110. He testified that many distributors wanted to get the product approved with FDA through a "monograph" system. R0343:111. He testified that to do this documentation was put together and submitted to the FDA. *Id.* He testified an inspector then looked at the facility, classified it differently, and wanted different things put into place with regards to the company, production, and the product itself. *Id.* He testified that to do what the FDA wanted it would cost about \$1.2-1.5 Million. *Id.* Markham testified they were given a 90-120 day time period to comply, and the FDA took some samples. *Id.* He testified there was bacteria found in some of the samples. *Id.* He testified the FDA had the power to cease all production based on the discovery of this bacteria and they did. *Id.* Markham testified that after this occurred they could not produce the product anymore but were not shut down. R0343:112. He testified they were asked to recall the product and destroy it, which they did. *Id.*

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