2016

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/ Appellee, v. Laned. Bird, Defendant/
Appellant.**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Defendant argues that his actions are not the but-for cause of the Markhams’ loss because he was convicted of—or at least accepted responsibility only for—selling securities without a license. Aplt. Br. at 24, 26, 30.

Contrary to Defendant's repeated assertions, Defendant was charged with, convicted of, and sentenced for securities fraud under section 61-1-1 of the Utah Code, not selling a security without a license or transacting business as an unlicensed broker-dealer or agent in violation of section 61-1-3. R1-2, 121; R347:530. And Defendant's fraudulent actions are the direct cause of the Markhams parting with their money and joining a failed venture.

As noted, the Crime Victims Restitution Act authorizes restitution "[w]hen a defendant is convicted of criminal activity that has resulted in pecuniary damages." Utah Code Ann. §77-38a-301. As the statute suggests, there must be a causal nexus between the defendant's criminal activity and the pecuniary damages suffered by the victim. This Court has defined the requisite causal nexus using a modified but-for test: "A modified 'but for' test requires that (1) the damages 'would not have occurred but for the conduct underlying the . . . [defendant's] conviction' and (2) the 'causal nexus between the [criminal] conduct and the loss . . . is not too attenuated (either factually or temporally).'" *State v. Brown*, 2009 UT App 285, ¶11, 221 P.3d 273 (alterations and omissions in original) (quoting *State v. McBride*, 940 P.2d 539, 544 (Utah Ct. App. 1997)).

But before causation can be determined, the court must first determine what “criminal activity” is at issue. *See* Utah Code Ann. §77-38a-301. The statute defines criminal activity as “any offense of which the defendant is convicted.” *Id.* §77-38a-102(2). Criminal activity also includes “any other criminal conduct for which the defendant admits responsibility to the sentencing court with or without an admission of committing the criminal conduct.” *Id.* Here, Defendant was convicted of securities fraud under section 61-1-1, not engaging in unlicensed transactions under section 61-1-3.

Section 61-1-3 makes it unlawful for anyone to transact business “as a broker-dealer or agent unless the person is licensed” to do so. Utah Code Ann. §61-1-3(1) (West 2012); *see also id.* §61-1-13(1)(c)(i) (defining “broker-dealer” in part as “a person engaged in the business of effecting transactions in securities for the account of others or for the person’s own account”). Section 61-1-1 makes it unlawful for anyone—licensed or not—“in connection with the offer, sale, or purchase of any security” to either directly or indirectly (1) “employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud”; (2) make “any untrue statement of a material fact” or omit to make any statement of material fact that would render the statement not misleading; or (3) “engage in any act, practice, or course of business which

operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person.” *Id.* §61-1-1. Securities fraud under section 61-1-1 may be a second degree felony depending on the value of the security or the circumstances of the victim, but engaging in securities transactions without a license is punishable only as a third degree felony. *Id.* §61-1-21(1), (2) (West 2012).

The criminal information filed in this case referred to the second and third variants of securities fraud under section 61-1-1, and it charged Defendant with a second degree felony. R1-2. The testimony and argument presented by both parties at trial extensively covered the issue of whether Defendant willfully misrepresented or omitted material facts when he pitched the investment to the Markhams. *See, e.g.*, R347:491–507 (prosecutor’s closing argument); R347:507–24 (defendant’s closing argument). And the few times Defendant’s lack of a license came up at trial was always to emphasize that Defendant *never told the Markhams* that he was unlicensed to sell securities. R346:109, 130–31. When the trial court announced its verdict, it specifically mentioned misrepresentations and omissions and stated that Defendant was guilty of securities fraud, not selling securities without a license. R347:530. Accordingly, the trial court sentenced Defendant for second degree felony securities fraud. R121. The trial court reiterated that fact in its restitution order when it stated, “The

facts proven at trial demonstrated that Defendant made numerous untrue statements of material fact, omitted to state numerous material facts, and engaged in an act, practice, or course of business which operated as a fraud or deceit upon the Markhams.” R*155. And the trial court rejected Defendant’s argument, made in a motion to reconsider the restitution order, that it had incorrectly entered a conviction under section 61-1-1 rather than 61-1-3. R344:11.

Defendant cites no record support for his assertion that he was convicted and sentenced for transacting business as an unlicensed broker-dealer or agent. Aplt. Br. at 24, 26, 30. And he acknowledges that the trial court specifically rejected this argument below. Aplt. Br. at 16; R344:11. The only evidence Defendant points to in the record is his statement to the investigator who prepared the presentence report, where Defendant accepted responsibility only for selling a security without a license.⁹ R101.

But Defendant’s refusal to accept responsibility *for the crime for which he was convicted* is irrelevant to the question of what losses his criminal

⁹ Defendant also asserts on appeal that he made similar statements at the sentencing hearing. Aplt. Br. at 30. But Defendant did not provide a transcript of the sentencing hearing on appeal and thus cannot rely on what was said there to support his claim. See Utah R. App. P. 11(e)(2); *State v. Nielsen*, 2011 UT App 211, ¶4, 257 P.3d 1103 (per curiam) (“An appellant has the burden to provide an adequate record for review.”).

activity caused. As noted, the law authorizes the sentencing court to impose restitution resulting from criminal conduct for which a defendant admits responsibility, even if the defendant was not convicted based on that conduct. See Utah Code Ann. §76-3-201(1)(b), (4)(a) (West 2015); *id.* §77-38a-102(2); *id.* §77-38a-302(1), (5)(a). But restitution is not limited to what a defendant is willing to pay. The court may also impose restitution for any loss caused by a crime for which a defendant was actually convicted. See *id.* §§76-3-201(1)(b), (4)(a); 77-38a-102(2); 77-38a-302(1), (5)(a); *State v. Poulsen*, 2012 UT App 292, ¶10, 288 P.3d 601; *State v. Bickley*, 2002 UT App 342, ¶¶8–9, 60 P.3d 582. To hold otherwise would create a strong incentive for defendants to deny responsibility for the crimes for which they have been convicted in an attempt to limit restitution.

In most cases, the criminal conviction itself satisfies the requirement that “liability is clear as a matter of law” before entering an order for restitution. *State v. Robinson*, 860 P.2d 979, 983 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). The defendant’s refusal to admit responsibility for criminal activity only becomes an issue when the trial court attempts to order restitution for losses not caused by the crime for which the defendant was convicted or pleaded guilty. See, e.g., *State v. Larsen*, 2009 UT App 293, ¶9, 221 P.3d 277 (holding that trial court may not infer criminal liability for actions not covered by

defendant's guilty plea); *State v. Watson*, 1999 UT App 273, ¶5, 987 P.2d 1289 (same). That is not the case here.

Because Defendant was convicted of securities fraud, the causal link between Defendant's criminal activity and the Markhams' loss must focus on Defendant's fraudulent actions, misrepresentations, and omissions, not his licensing status. But for Defendant's fraud, the Markhams would not have parted with their money and invested in a failed venture. Bill and Susan both testified that Defendant's false statement that he had invested \$500,000 of his own money was important to their decision to invest. R346:45, 125-26. Susan was leery of investing in a new company that needed investors' money to function. R346:125-26. The financial records submitted at trial demonstrate that Clarcon Labs and Clarcon Distributing were dependent on the Markhams' investment to meet day-to-day operating expenses and to pay off debts—not simply to update antiquated production equipment. SE7, 8. Had the Markhams known that, they would not have invested. Defendant's fraudulent statements and omissions were thus the but-for cause of the Markhams losing their investment.

C. The victims' loss did not become too attenuated from Defendant's fraudulent actions simply because Defendant was not involved in the venture when it was finally terminated.

In addition to but-for causation, restitution requires that the victims' loss not be factually or temporally too attenuated from the Defendant's criminal actions. *Brown*, 2009 UT App 285, ¶11. Defendant argues that the State cannot meet the second part of the causation test because the Markhams lost the value of their investment in 2009 when the FDA seized the inventory from Bill's company.¹⁰ Defendant asserts that event was too attenuated from Defendant's fraudulent actions both factually and temporally. *Aplt. Br.* at 24–26. Defendant also argues that the trial court “decline[d] to consider [his] position that Markham's losses were caused by Markham's own negligence in not abiding by FDA regulations.” *Aplt. Br.* at 37. *See State v. Laycock*, 2009 UT 53, ¶27 n.4 (noting that in determining amount of restitution, the trial court “cannot decline to consider evidence that a victim's losses were caused” by someone other than defendant).

The trial court considered Defendant's arguments and the evidence he presented in support. R*153. That the trial court viewed the evidence

¹⁰ Defendant actually frames his argument in terms of the FDA shutting down Bill's company. But Bill was adamant at trial that the FDA did not shut down the company, nor did it force Bill and Omar to do so. R343:110–12. They may have been left with little choice given the circumstances, but it was still their choice to make.

differently than Defendant does not mean the trial court declined to consider it. In light of the record evidence, the trial court's conclusion was reasonable. Indeed, when the full evidentiary picture is viewed, the causal nexus is clear and strong. The Markhams lost the value of their investment because they invested in a debt-ridden company that had trouble generating sales, and they were induced to invest by Defendant's material misrepresentations and omissions. The FDA's seizure of the unsafe product merely marked the end to Bill's prolonged and futile attempt to salvage something from what had been a failed investment from the beginning. In other words, the loss had already occurred by the time Defendant separated from the venture. Any intervening events Defendant identifies do not undermine the causal nexus.

Even if Bill's control of the company and the FDA's seizure of the product were relevant, those intervening events do not undermine the causal nexus because they were foreseeable. In the context of restitution, this Court has held that an intervening force does not make a victim's loss too attenuated from the defendant's actions as long as the intervening force is reasonably foreseeable. *State v. McBride*, 940 P.2d 539, 543-45 (Utah Ct. App. 1997). In *McBride*, for example, the defendant was caught joyriding, the police were unable to locate the owner of the car because they

mistranscribed the vehicle's information, and the car was impounded and eventually sold. *Id.* at 540–41. Defendant was ordered to pay restitution for the car, but he argued on appeal that the police's negligent conduct was an intervening cause that broke the causal nexus between his criminal conduct and the victim's loss. *Id.* at 541. This Court rejected the argument, concluding that the causal nexus was not broken because "the negligence of the police in transcribing the vehicle identification number was [not] so unforeseeable as to supersede the fault" of the defendant in causing the loss. *Id.* at 544.

1. The causal chain is not factually too attenuated.

Defendant argues that the causal chain is factually too attenuated because the Markhams' loss was a result of "production noncompliance with federal regulations." *Aplt. Br.* at 26. In other words, he argues that the Markhams lost the value of their investment not because of Defendant's fraudulent misrepresentations and omissions, but because the FDA seized the inventory as a result of Bill's actions at a time when Defendant was not involved in the venture. *Aplt. Br.* at 24. The inventory, he claims, was not valueless when he gave it to Bill. *Aplt. Br.* at 37.

But the Markhams' loss of their security occurred in 2007 when they invested in a company laden with debt and unable to sell enough product to

cover basic operating expenses. Neither Omar's original company, Defendant's distribution company, nor Bill's subsequent company ever made a profit. R343:99-100, 121; 346:107; 347:382, 417, 432, 476, 482. Each company had significant debt, and although some sales apparently took place, most fell through. R343:89, 110, 121-22; 346:78; 347:353, 476. And Defendant was aware of the financial state of the Clarcon venture when he separated from it. R347:382, 417, 432, 434-38, 476, 482. Thus, the Markhams' loss of the complete value of their investment would have been reasonably foreseeable to Defendant and anyone else in that situation. Cf. *State v. Johnson*, 2009 UT App 382, ¶¶45-48, 224 P.3d 720 (concluding that value of a loan co-defendant took out using victims' investment as collateral "flow[ed] from the fraudulent securities transaction and [was] properly charged against" defendant, but remanding to determine whether to credit defendant for payments victims received on their investment).

The inventory Defendant returned to Bill did not change the company's financial situation. With a retail value of \$500,000, the inventory was not "valueless" on its face. But its value was not sufficient to offset the debts that Bill had also assumed in exchange for his investment, particularly in light of lackluster product sales and high operating expenses. The

seizure of the product in 2009 simply put an end to Bill's persistent and futile efforts to salvage the investment.

Significantly, the reason that the FDA seized the product was not because of Bill's noncompliance with federal regulations. Rather, it did so because the product that Defendant got the Markhams to invest in was unsafe. R343:110-12. That fact is clear from the exhibits Defendant presented to the trial court in opposition to the State's restitution request. The FDA inspection report listed several procedural violations, ranging from a lack of quality controls to poor record keeping. R157-60. The report was issued at the beginning of May 2009. R160. The FDA did not seized the inventory then or take any other adverse action against Bill's company. It was not until June 2009 that the FDA ordered the company to cease production of the contaminated product, recall it, and destroy it. R153-55; 343:110-12. Then on July 31, 2009, the FDA seized the company's product because it was not satisfied with the company's recall and destruction efforts. R153-55; 343:110-12. The seizure was based not on regulatory noncompliance. It was based on the presence of harmful bacteria in the product. R153-55; 343:110-12. Though Bill's company had apparently added other product lines, it was producing the same product in 2009 as it was when Defendant convinced Bill to invest in Clarcon in 2007. R26-27,

155. Defendant has not shown that Omar ever changed the formula or that the product that was unsafe in 2009 was somehow safe in 2007.

The Markhams' loss is thus not factually attenuated from Defendant's fraudulent actions. The loss occurred in 2007, and the FDA's seizure of the product merely put an end to the Markhams' attempts to recover from that loss. Given Defendant's intimate knowledge of the abysmal financial state of the Clarcon venture, it was reasonably foreseeable that the Markhams would not recoup their investment.¹¹

¹¹ Defendant also presents what he terms an alternative argument, asserting that if the inventory he returned to Bill is deemed worthless, fault for its loss in value should be apportioned to Bill. Aplt. Br. at 33-37. Although Defendant relies on comparative negligence statutes and cases to support his argument, the argument is really a restatement of his claim that the causal nexus is too attenuated because Bill is responsible for the loss.

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